




















Hensher: Garlock History 

Town life 
Strangely, a townsite wasn't laid out until June, 1897. But what a 

townsite! Offering the comforts of civilization were two well-managed 
hostelries, one owned by AJ. and Sarah Doty, the other by Zeke T. 
Llllard and his wife. 

Doty's Hall, which also seived as the stage station, was the most 
important place in town. Doty's was Garlock's only two-story building 
and, despite persistent sandblasting by the wind, stood for a certain 
elegance. Inside were 10 bedrooms and a parlor, lobby, large dining 
room, and kitchen. Outside stood an ornate street lantern, one of four 
along the main street 

The cuisine was another matter. Although fresh meat anived three 
times a week from a local slaughterhouse, the lack of refrigeration 
forced Doty's to seive mostly canned or dried food. 

Llllard's, in contrast, was famed for its food. Zeke Lillard and his 
family had emigrated from Los Angeles, hoping to make a quick 
fortune in the gold fields. But Mrs. Lillard instead built up an outdoor 
kitchen into a bakery and then the hotel. Working almost round the 
clock, she would bake pies and bread for 100 lunches before getting 
breakfast ready. Mrs. Lillard might also have to prepare as many as 
300 meals a day for her regular boarders: miners and mill workers. 
Her two daughters helped out by waiting on tables. 

Zeke Lillard, in contrast, tended to drift away from the front desk 
to the sitting room or porch, smoking a cigar or talking about mining. 
And whenever hot weather anived, the Lillards' son, Frank, would 
visit the tall jar of chocolate-<::overed cream candies on the front desk. 
"It was a drippy, sticky mess, but wonderful. I got to eat the whole 
batch, right down to the liquid chocolate on the bottom." 

At the other end of Main Street stood the Garlock School, a 
building of simple dignity. Inside were two rows of home-made desks, 
one row for the boys, the other for the girls. Between the desks stood a 
cast-iron stove. Near the door was a dipper and galvanized pail for 
water. At the front of the room was the teacher's desk, platform, and 
blackboard. During the boom, the school was well attended (reaching 
a peak of 20 in 1898) and seived as a dance hall on Saturday nights, a 
church on Sundays, and a meeting place for the literary society. 

Like the school, Dr. Wright's house was improvised to seive a 
variety of needs. A simple frame structure, the house contained only 
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about 400 square feet, but the back room and lean-to were used as 
living quarters, bedrooms, a kitchen, and a laundry; the front room 
seived as an office (where Dr. Wright also pulled teeth), drugstore, 
and assembly room for miners. About 1900, half of the front room was 
partitioned off for use as the post office. 

Two businesses were especially popular, although in different ways. 
Attached to one saloon were a few cribs and a gambling den. To fend 
off critics, mainly prohibitionists, the saloon owners organized their 
own peace-keeping force: the Wirecutters' Association. The other force 
for cleanliness - literally - was Juan Basarto, a shy young man who 
ran a hand laundry; he charged a standard 25 cents for jobs of any 
size. 

Juan Basarto was typical of many of Garlock's residents: 
unpretentious and generous. "It was a friendly little settlement where 
people helped each other in common need and hardship," recalled 
Bessie McGinn, one of the daughters of Jim McGinn, a merchant For 
example, when an impoverished miner named Becker painfully 
shuffied in with a strangulated hernia, Dr. Wright summoned a doctor 
from Randsburg and together operated on Becker on the kitchen 
table. Afterward, Mrs. Wright cared for Becker until he was able to 
return home to Los Angeles. Mrs. Wright "was always helping 
someone who was down on his luck," her son, Sherman, remembered. 

Happily, day-to-day life was rarely so grim. The residents could 
look forward to a variety of homespun activities: the daily anival of the 
stage, dances in the school, music, meetings of the literary society, 
baseball games, Sunday sermons preached by Dr. Wright, and 
Independence Day festivities, at which Dr. Wright would deliver the 
oration. 

Signs of decline 
Although Garlock was prospering, some signs of weakness began to 

appear. The losses of precious metals during milling became so great 
that a cyanide plant had to be installed at one mill in May, 1897. Mine 
owners in the Rand district, in the meantime, were sinking their own 
wells: at dry Cuddeback Lake, east of Randsburg, and near the St 
Elmo Mine, southeast of Johannesburg. 

But as long as the Rand district continued to yield rich and 
abundant ore, life at Garlock went on as usual. Despite the press of 

Fig. 2. Yellow Aster Mine's pumping plant, Goler, 1909. FL. Hess, US. Geological Survey, De11ver; courtesy Larry Vrede11hurgh. 
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business, for example, the mills had to shut down in anticipation of the 
Independence Day festivities in 1897. As before, the "boys" went on a 
binge, first at Randsburg on July 3 and then at Garlock on July 5, and 
then took another day to recover. The Garlock Mill had to wait until 
the morning of July 7 to resume operations. " .. . Now everything is 
again serene, and the music of the stamps is heard from 'early mom 
till dewy eve.'" 

A more respectable pastime - and the most popular - was 
baseball. In its first game, the Garlock team beat Randsburg, 11 to 5. 
But in "the event of the season" in September, the Tehachapi team 
came from behind and beat Garlock, 4 to l . 

By October, Garlock supported six mills, running day and night 
almost entirely on large shipments of ore from the Rand district. But 
appearances could be deceiving. Each of the largest two mills ran only 
10 stamps; one mill was equipped with a roller, a cheap but inefficient 
crushing device. Only one mill was powered by a gasoline engine; the 
others were equipped with steam engines, which voraciously burned 
huge stacks of hot-burning creosote ("greasewood"). Two cyanide 
plants, meanwhile, were processing the tailings. 

Garlock continued to lose its monopoly of mills and wells 
throughout the fall and winter. Small mills were already operating at 
Mesquite Springs, Koehn Springs, Cuddeback Lake, and 
Johannesburg, where a 10-stamp mill started up in early December. 
Eastern investors, in the meantime, were pushing the construction of a 
29-mile rail line - the Randsburg Railway - from Kramer, a station on 
the Santa Fe Railroad, to Johannesburg. They planned to ship ore 
from the Rand to a 50-stamp mill under construction at Barstow. The 
prospects for business looked good: in March, 1898, one mine, 
employing 120 men, was shipping from 30 to 50 tons of high-grade ore 
a day to Garlock's mills. 

The final years 
For Garlock, the beginning of the end came in June, 1898, when 

the mill at Barstow started up. The Yellow Aster soon began shipping 
its ore to Barstow and closed all but one of the mills at Garlock. Since 
the Yellow Aster already had a pipeline running from its wells at 
Galer, it built a 30-stamp at Randsburg; the mill started up in 
February, 1899. Only 50 people were living in Garlock - and 34 in its 
environs - by the spring of 1900. When the Yellow Aster built a 
second, 100-stamp mill - the largest in the state - in 1901, the last 
families left Garlock. School enrollment fell from 19 that spring to 
three or four in May, 1903, when the school district was dissolved. 

The Wright family left that year. As son Sherman recalled, the 
Wrights "abandoned the house and gave Juan [Basarto) our horse and 
buggy, together with an old four wheeler wagon in exchange for 
driving us to Mojave. There we took the train for Oakland. I never 
knew how my father got together enough money for the train fare. He 
was at heart a promoter, quite resourceful, and always managed 
somehow." The post office closed in March, 1904. Only Juan Basarto 
remained. And soon, even he was gone. 

The revival 
Garlock began to reawaken several years later. The construction of 

a railroad line from Mojave to the Owens Valley from 1907 through 
1910 brought a section crew and station to the townsite. A 
slaughterhouse still operated there. Then, in 1914, Sarah (Granny) 
Slocum bought up much of the townsite and opened a boardinghouse, 
which her customers dubbed the "Hotel de puke." She scrapped the 
mills during World War I. 

After the war,J.D. Voss and other operators reopened several 
nearby gold and silver claims. A small settlement grew up at the 
townsite. In response to a petition signed by 13 parents, the county 
supervisors re-established the Garlock School District in January, 1920; 
Garlock annexed the short-lived Saltdale School District several 
months later. About then, John D. Norton opened a general store, 
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where the post office was re-established in October, 1923. 
A flurry of small-scale mining continued for several years. After 

shipping out some ore to a smelter in early 1925, in fact, Voss was 
feeling "very much encouraged." 

The revival soon faded away. Norton moved to Cantil and opened 
a store. Garlock lost its post office in June, 1926. The school was 
_moved to nearby Saltdale a few years later. 

The onslaught of the Depression, ironically, led to an increased 
interest in gold mining. A cyanide plant was built at Garlock in 1931. 
Major placer-mining operations, employing hundreds of men, also 
were resumed in the Goler district. But Garlock never revived as a 
town. 

SOURCES 
The best source on Garlock is Paul Hubbard's history and compilation of 

reminiscences: Garlock Memories, Ridgecrest: Hubbard Printing, 1960. Two 
histories of the Rand Mining District contain important information on Garlock: 
Marcia R. Wynn, Desert Bona11za, Culver City: M.W. Samelson, 1949, and 
Roberta Starry, Gold Gamble, China Lake: Maturango Museum., 1974. 

Thorough day-to-day coverage can be found in the Bakersfield Daily 
Califor11ia11 and the Mi11i11g & Scimtific Press (San Francisco) for 1896 and 1897; 
occasional articles can be found in the San Bernardino Times-Index. 

The actions of the county government can be traced in the Bakersfield 
Daily Califor11ia11, especially January, 1897; the minutes of the Kem County 
board of supervisors (microfilm), 1896 and 1897, in the office of the clerk of the 
board, Bakersfield; "Annual Report of the Condition of Public !Common! 
Schools in the County of Kem," 1898-99, 1899-1900, 1900-01, and 1901-02, in 
the California State Archives, Sacramento; and "School Districts: Formation 
Change of Boundaries: Garlock," file 19-14, also in the office of the clerk of the 
board. 
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